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In Central Europe, the first half of 
the 20th century saw the parallel Hun-
garian and Romanian nation-building 
processes and also the consequences of 
the reorganization of the internation-
al political system. These important 
events led to two instances of redrawing 
the Romanian-Hungarian interstate 
border before 1945: first as a result of 
the Peace Treaty signed by the Allied 
and Associated Powers with Hungary 
at the end of the First World War (4 
June 1920), and once again as a result 
of Great Power arbitration resulting in 
the Second Vienna Award (30 August 
1940), which effectively cancelled the 
Peace Treaty signed only twenty years 
before. Both Vienna Awards came af-
ter failed direct negotiations between 
two different East-Central European 
states: the Second Vienna Award, 
which split Transylvania in two halves 
between Hungary and Romania, came 
only two years after the First Vienna 

“Every conference begins 
like a turtle, and reaches 
the finish line as a racing 
dog.” 
(Harold Nicolson)
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Award (2 November 1938) that helped Hungary regain the southeastern part 
of interwar Czechoslovakia, the former Upper Hungary, which was inhabited 
predominantly by ethnic Hungarians. The First Vienna Award was perceived 
by the Hungarian decision-making elite and public opinion leaders as a direct 
result of the Munich Agreement, made by the four Great Powers (Great Britain, 
France, Germany and Italy). The Second Vienna Award was settled two years 
later only by Germany and Italy.1 At that moment, Germany was already at war 
with Great Britain and France after the invasion of Poland, compounded by 
an agreement on non-aggression terms with the Soviet Union, the Molotov– 
Ribbentrop Pact (23 August 1939).2 Italy also entered the war against France 
and Great Britain, on 10 June 1940—a decision taken by Benito Mussolini, as 
the defeat of France was expected to happen soon.3

The Soviet Union accepted the result of the Second Vienna Award for the 
period between 30 August 1940 and 27 June 1941.4 On the other hand, Great 
Britain and the United States of America had reservations, as it contradicted 
the values represented by the Atlantic Charter, which stated that no change of 
borders made without consulting the involved nations or by aggression would 
be recognized.5

Regarding the changing position of the Soviet Union towards the Hungar-
ian claims on Transylvania, one has to remember that the issue was addressed 
right after the German military invasion of ussr had begun, with an active 
participation of Finland and Romania in the invasion, but with no Hungar-
ian troops. Molotov had called József Kristóffy, the Hungarian ambassador in  
Moscow, making him an offer: if Hungary stayed out of the war against the 
Soviet Union, the latter would support the Hungarian claims at the end of the 
war.6 Despite the offer, Hungary entered the armed conflict against the ussr 
on 27 June 1941. The Hungarian decision-makers had been convinced that 
the German success was imminent. Later in December 1941 Stalin referred to 
this when meeting with Anthony Eden, saying that Hungary would have to be 
exemplarily punished for the aggression against the ussr.7 As World War II 
unfolded in a way contrary to the Hungarian decision-making leaders’ expec-
tations, the Soviet leaders’ views on Hungary became even more negative:  
Molotov declared on 7 June 1943 that “the responsibility was to be held not 
only by the Hungarian government, but also by the Hungarian people.”8 As a 
consequence, the Soviet position on the Second Vienna Award changed, with a 
view to ending its effects right after the end of war. For Hungarians, some hope 
could still be found in the document of the Litvinov Commission describing the 
postwar resettlement of Europe. When referring to the solution to be adopted 
for the question of Transylvania, the document contains important details.9 It 
starts with a short presentation of the historical turning points in the region’s 
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past, then states the impossibility of adopting a solution that would satisfy both 
parties (Romania and Hungary), also pointing out that an ethnic line delimit-
ing the two contending nations was impossible to draw, because of the mixed 
distribution of the population, and it further stated the impossibility of main-
taining the decision adopted at the Second Vienna Award. There were several 
reasons for this: it was a decision made by the Axis Powers, which, by cutting 
Transylvania in two halves, tied both states to Germany’s war effort.10 Also, re-
warding Hungary by placing the entire region under its authority was dismissed 
as an option, because Hungary had joined the military aggression against the 
ussr without “any reason” back in 1941. It also lacked territorial claims “which 
are now used by Finland and Romania to argue for their decision to join the 
war against the Soviet Union,” and as Hungary was a “partner in all anti-Soviet 
intrigues of Poland.” 11 The set of possible solutions drawn up by the Litvinov 
Commission were: 
• a confederate union of Transylvania with Hungary—but only if there was a 
complete turn in Hungarian policies in favor of the Soviet Union (mentioning 
immediately that it should be evaluated as an opportunistic decision of Hun-
gary, motivated only by their claims regarding Transylvania);12 
• reuniting Transylvania under the authority of Romania, but with a direct 
reference to a strong commitment to collaborate with the Soviet Union, and 
abandon any claims regarding Bessarabia and Northern Bukovina;13 
• an independent Transylvanian state, as a tool of direct Soviet interest in the 
region, raising pro-Soviet feelings in both Romania and Hungary.14 

For a detailed plan of a Transylvanian state, the work of Béla Geiger15 was 
integrated in the documentation of the Litvinov Commission.16 There was also 
a document arguing for an independent Transylvania, submitted by Valter  
Roman to the Litvinov Commission on 2 August 1944 (dated 28 July 1944). 
He proposed a very different solution compared with the position held by the 
leaders of the Communist Party of Romania: namely, to institutionalize an in-
dependent Transylvania, splitting it from both Romania and Hungary, having 
its borders on the Carpathian Mountains and the Tisza River, placed under the 
guarantees of the Soviet Union, Great Britain and United States of America.17 
A decade later, Valter Roman remembered that among the leaders of the Com-
munist Party of Hungary living in Moscow during the war there were different 
positions on the issue: Imre Nagy did not agree with Mátyás Rákosi and József 
Révai—the latter suggesting the idea that a Northern Transylvania still a part 
of Hungary even after 1944 would better serve the communists in Hungary.18 
Mátyás Rákosi was remembered as referring to the immediate postwar situation 
as when “the Romanian side had the advantage of earlier engagement” to build 
a communist regime, which had influenced Stalin’s position towards the solu-
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tion adopted on the question of Transylvania.19 It was the same Mátyás Rákosi 
who pushed for elections to be held in Hungary as early as 1945, so as to ensure 
the Communist Party’s victory. It gained only 16% of the votes. After those 
elections of November 1945, won by the Smallholders’ Party (gaining 57% of 
the vote), but before 1947, Rákosi changed his stance towards the question of 
Transylvania, as any possible territorial gains for Hungary were then evaluated 
as strengthening the popularity of his political enemy. 

The Soviet leaders involved in postwar geopolitical planning had already 
known of Great Britain’s plan made by Oxford University’s staff (dated 17 De-
cember 1942), preferring an independent Transylvanian state, part of a con-
federation of states of the Danube region.20 All plans involving federation/con-
federation in Central and Eastern Europe were upsetting the Soviet decision-
making power elite: they saw those plans as undermining the direct control 
of the ussr upon the neighboring region. Winston Churchill had announced 
a “Balkan Federation” in March 1943, which provoked the same feelings in 
Moscow. Stalin was keen on convincing Edward Beneš to drop the earlier plan 
of a Polish-Czechoslovak Confederation, at a meeting in Moscow.21 Churchill 
had given his support to a plan for a Bavarian-Austrian-Hungarian Federation, 
which could isolate the “Prussian heart” of Germany, and could also maintain 
a part of the Central European region outside Moscow’s influence.22 The plans 
devised by the government of the United States of America had also revealed 
a certain sympathy towards the idea of federalizing the region, emphasizing 
the role to be played by Hungary and the neighboring Romania, Yugoslavia 
and Czechoslovakia—as stated in the plans produced by the State Department, 
published also by Ignác Romsics, in Hungarian translation.23 The interest of the 
Hungarian decision-making elite in a federalized region became more impor-
tant, as at the end of World War II all neighboring states were winners against 
or victims of Germany, therefore no sympathy for the Hungarian demands for 
revised interstate borders had great chances to be taken in consideration. At the 
beginning of 1944, Endre (Andrew) Bajcsy-Zsilinszky published in Geneva a 
plan for the federalization of Transylvania.24 At the same time, György Barcza, 
the Hungarian ambassador in Bern, had succeeded in forwarding to Tibor Eck-
hardt in the United States of America the plan of a Danube Federation, made 
by István Bethlen, the “grand old man” of the Hungarian political elite.25 The 
idea of adopting a customs union, “spiritualizing” the borders, had rapidly lost 
support in Czechoslovakia immediately after the war, as Edward Beneš directly 
negotiated his position with Stalin already in 1943. However, it gained support 
in Romania, where for a short period of time the communist-led government of 
Dr. Petru Groza had a special motivation, which this study will later consider.26

As the war front drew closer to the national borders of Romania, Hungary 
came under military occupation by Germany on 19 March 1944. Both countries 
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were involved in talks with the Allied Powers about leaving the war alliance with 
Germany, both intended to come to agreements with the Western Powers, and 
were asked by the latter to directly address the Soviet Union. On 12 April 1944 
a draft of a possible armistice for Romania was published, in which there was 
a direct reference to its right to reintegrate the whole of Transylvania. Signed 
weeks after Romania changed sides in World War II (23 August 1944), in the 
Armistice Agreement (11–12 September 1944, signed in Moscow) the follow-
ing formula was introduced: “Transylvania in its entirety, or a greater part of it” 
should be reintegrated as part of Romania, stating also that later the Peace Con-
ference was to finally decide on that issue. That formula represented the British 
position, which left the question of Transylvania partly open.27 One might think 
that the reason behind it was to motivate a possible Hungarian change of sides. 
On 15 October 1944, Hungary failed to follow Romania’s example by changing 
sides in the war.28 But it served well another interest put forward by the Soviet 
Union. 

Stalin had appointed General Vinogradov to direct the Romanian Govern-
ment in keeping with the Soviet interests. The act of 23 August 1944 was later 
evaluated as not serving the interest of the communists: it associated an impor-
tant part of the Romanian traditional political elite with the Allied Powers; it 
therefore saved them and offered legitimacy to the political establishment head-
ed by King Michael I of Romania. The Soviet interest was to increase pressure 
on the Romanian political decision-making center in the interest of the com-
munists. Moving the political confrontation to the streets, the Soviet Military 
Authorities did not let the Romanian authorities enter the liberated (and Soviet-
occupied) city of Cluj, on 11 October 1944. That symbolic act was followed by 
a demand to the Romanian authorities to leave Northern Transylvania, whose 
border had been set by the Second Vienna Award. That demand, presented in 
the name of the Allied Control Commission headed by General Vinogradov, 
was based formally on article no. 17 of the Armistice Agreement signed only a 
month before.29 The real interest behind the decision was to control Northern 
Transylvania, to be used as an instrument of “political blackmail”: the Soviet 
demand stated that Transylvania could be reintegrated into Romania only if the 
King appointed the new, communist-led coalition to form a new Government.30 
In the meantime, a special and provisional administration under Soviet military 
control was introduced in Northern Transylvania,31 which was mistakenly seen 
by a part of the representative leaders of the Hungarian community as Soviet 
support for institutionalizing regional autonomy.32	

In the meantime, Winston Churchill met with I. V. Stalin in Moscow,  
between 9 and 12 October 1944. The direct negotiation between the two lead-
ers led to the “percentage agreement” regarding the Great Powers’ interests in 
the states of Central and Southeast Europe. The manifest interest of the British 
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leader in preserving his position in Greece, crucial for controlling the Mediter-
ranean routes of strategic value, and the Soviet interest in turning the immedi-
ately neighboring states into a buffer zone between the West and the ussr, were 
important from the perspective of geopolitics. They had not shared the liberal 
views of F. D. Roosevelt of a New Era, based on the vision of democratizing the 
world, opening the world markets, and institutionalizing the United Nations. 
This led to a lapse of trust between the us President and the British Prime Minis-
ter. From the point of view of the events about to happen in Romania, together 
with the Soviet military presence, a part of the recent historiography evaluated 
the Churchill–Stalin Agreement of October 1944 as an important element of the 
postwar architecture of Central and Eastern Europe. It certainly led to a desper-
ate situation, as the political opponents of the communist regime learned about 
it through different sources.33 

Strengthening the Communist Party’s position in neighboring Romania 
was of major interest for the Soviet Union. In that context, the final push to 
overthrow the ruling government in Romania came at the end of February– 
beginning of March 1945.34 The result was the introduction of the communist-
led Government, headed by Dr. Petru Groza, on 6 March 1945—an event of 
utmost importance for the changing Soviet position regarding the question of 
Transylvania. From that moment on, Stalin’s interest was to raise the popularity 
of the new communist-led Government. Therefore, he pressed for a reintegra-
tion of the entire Transylvania into Romania. As it was also a major point of the 
national program of the post-wwii Romanian society, it was presented as a direct 
consequence of the establishment of a communist-led Government in Romania. 
That was symbolically represented by the telegram received from Stalin, and by 
the extraordinary session of the new Government, held in Cluj on 12 March 
1945. In the new struggle for political power, the strategy of the National Front 
was applied.35 The Communist Party’s political program met the national agen-
da of postwar reconstruction, hiding from the public eyes the real strategic aim 
of social engineering, grounded in the Marxist-Leninist ideology. The policy 
of identifying the rcp with the main aim of the traditional national agenda was 
clear: regaining the territories held after the Trianon Peace Treaty, and partially 
lost to Hungary in 1940, was an immediate imperative, given the contrasting  
reality of the multi-ethnic identity of the party leadership majority—a party 
which had grown considerably since 1944, when it had had less than 1,000 
members. In assessing the impact of those events, one has to remember that 
soon after that moment, the Communist Party of Romania changed its name to 
the Romanian Communist Party (October 1945). That was because Gheorghe 
Gheorghiu-Dej, freed from a Romanian jail where he had been imprisoned since 
1933, was favored by Stalin instead of the Moscow-based leaders. The prefer-
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ence for Gheorghe Gheorghiu-Dej promoted an image of the party anchored in 
the national body of the proletariat. The legitimizing discourse of the Romanian 
Communist Party right after the war relied on the “territorial integrity” of the 
Romanian nation-state. To avoid any discussions on a negotiated revision of 
borders, the communists in power switched the paradigm of public debate to 
the political and legal integration of the Hungarian ethno-cultural minority in 
Romania, including the institutionalization of collective rights, and the integra-
tion of the network of educational and cultural institutions of the Hungarian 
community in Romania. All of this served the interests of the communist-led 
Government before the signing of the Peace Treaty, which came in 1947. It 
also underscored the Romanian Government’s public narrative on promoting 
the “spiritualization of frontiers” and the integration of the Danube region in a 
future economic federative solution. These ideas were presented publicly by Dr. 
Petru Groza.

The representatives of Great Britain and the United States of America at the 
Potsdam Conference (17 July–2 August 1945) referred to the newly established 
Romanian Government as not meeting the Yalta Declaration on Liberated 
Europe, because of the political pressure and direct involvement of the Soviet 
Union. The political opposition to the new Romanian Government also tried to 
use that to its advantage.36 Under these circumstances the Government of Ro-
mania ascribed great importance the decision of the Hungarian People’s Union, 
a political organization allied with the Romanian Communist Party, which had 
offered a document showing its official position already on 17 November 1945, 
later integrated in the official documentation presented by the Romanian del-
egates at the Paris Peace Conference. It stated that a change in state borders 
would be a negative turn for the Hungarian minority, and the better solution 
was to integrate the collective rights of that minority in the new Romanian 
constitutional system. That had been followed by an open protest from various 
representative personalities and groups of the Hungarian community in Tran-
sylvania, which also questioned the quality of the Hungarian People’s Union as 
a representative organization.37

The new turn in the relations between the Great Powers had also led to 
a new approach regarding the question of Transylvania. As the newly 
inaugurated us President Harry Truman was very critical of the Polish, 

Romanian and Bulgarian governments established by direct Soviet intervention, 
the Western Allies refused to recognize them and contested their legitimacy. 
They also began to evaluate the question of Transylvania as an instrument for 
pressuring the communist-led Government established in Romania, as it pub-
licly legitimized itself as the one who succeeded to fulfill that major goal of 
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the Romanian national agenda. For the same reason, at the first session of the 
Conference of the Council of Foreign Ministers in London (11 September–2 
October 1945) the Western Allies challenged the Soviet intention to solve the 
Transylvanian question by the wholesale reintegration of the region into Ro-
mania.38 The us representative Byrnes represented a view in favor of discuss-
ing the possibility of a partial revision of the Romanian-Hungarian interstate 
borders.39 George Bidault, representing France, favored the decision to make 
corrections to the Peace Treaty of Trianon, in order to adopt a solution that 
more accurately reflected the ethnic border.40 The British representative, Ernest 
Bevin, emphasized the importance of a solution for the Romanian-Hungarian 
interstate border “which is just in itself.”41 The direct answer of Molotov, on 20 
September 1945, argued that the Soviet Union agreed with the decision made 
by the Western Great Powers in 1920. Their argument was this: in Transylvania 
it is impossible to draw an ethnic line to separate the two nations; the majority 
was clearly of Romanian ethnicity; the wartime situation was simply impos-
sible to maintain, as it had been set by Hitler; Romania had been part of the  
Allied military effort to defeat Germany, which was not the case with Hun-
gary.42 The session held in London was postponed sine die on 2 October 1945, 
without an agreement between the represented Great Powers on the issue of the 
peace treaties.

The momentary interest of the Western Great Powers had collaterally offered 
Hungary a possibility to try to put two issues on the agenda: on the one hand, 
the federalization of the states in the Danube region,43 and, on the other hand, 
the partial revision of the Romanian-Hungarian interstate border, arguing that 
it would bring a significant part of the almost two million ethnic Hungarians 
from Romania back to Hungary.44 As for the projected border revision, repre-
sentatives of the Hungarian authorities considered that having almost similar 
numbers of ethnic Romanians in Hungary and ethnic Hungarians in Romania 
would generate a more equitable relation between the two states.

The next period—from the summer of 1945 to the first months of 1946—
was a very difficult one for that communist-led Government in Romania, as 
the Western Great Powers refused to recognize it. In these circumstances, the 
Romanian Prime Minister, Dr. Petru Groza, publicly voiced the possibility of 
enacting plans for a regional customs union, a unity of nations “from the Leitha 
River to the Black Sea,” built around the union of Hungary and Romania, etc. 
These public statements of Dr. Petru Groza regarding the Danube region were 
passed on by László Réczei,45 special representative of Hungary in Romania, 
present in Bucharest since March 1945, as they came in parallel with Josip Broz 
Tito’s public speech on federalizing the Balkans.46 In the immediate postwar pe-
riod, the Hungarian Government had considered the federalization of the states 
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in the Danube region as a cornerstone of its strategy regarding the new peace.47 
Surrounded by states that had all been associated with the victorious Allied 
Powers—of which only Romania was to be re-evaluated as a defeated state at 
the Paris Peace Conference in 1946—and lacking all resources for any optimistic 
perspective of postwar economic reconstruction, all leaders of the antagonized 
political forces of Hungary were showing a certain interest in a possible customs 
union, seeking to avoid the consequences of once again losing contact with the 
regions regained by way of the decisions taken by the Great Powers in wartime. 
Seeking popularity, as the Communist Party was in desperate need to anchor 
itself in the national body in Hungary, Ernø Gerø, the first leader of the post-
war Communist Party of Hungary, had also shown his interest: he supported in 
early 1945 a partial revision of the borders, evaluated as an open demonstration 
“of the communists’ ability to succeed where the former political regime had 
failed.”48 Mátyás Rákosi, arriving from Moscow in the spring of 1945, shared 
Gerø’s interest before the elections held in November 1945, and advocated that 
some of the borders set by the wartime Great Powers arbitration between Hun-
gary and Romania should be maintained.49 As for the federalization of the Dan-
ube region, the Hungarian leaders of the Communist Party knew what their 
political opponents learned only later: for the Soviet Union, the suggestions to 
federalize the states of Central and Southeast Europe appeared as challenges to 
its authority. After 1947, the control was to be severely tightened in the states 
of the emerging Soviet bloc: the public discourses on federalizing the Danube 
region came to be seen as anti-Soviet views.

Hungary was in a much weaker position to negotiate than Romania in 1945–
1947: it had declared war on Germany only late, on 28 December 1944, a week 
after the creation of a Provisional Government in Debrecen. The Government, 
led by General Béla Miklós Dálnoki, had sought refuge on the Soviet side after 
the failed attempt at leaving the war on 15 October 1944. Hungary signed 
an Armistice Agreement with the Allied Powers on 20 January 1945. There 
was no continuity in the institutional functioning of the representative political 
decision-making elite. This was different from the Romanian case, where King 
Michael I led Romania after the act of 23 August 1944. The Provisional Gov-
ernment was set up prior to 21 December 1944 in Moscow by the direct will of 
Stalin, communicated through Molotov. The Hungarian armed forces had only 
a symbolic presence, as the Soviet Union had no interest in arming and aiding 
a local military force in Central and Eastern Europe. For these reasons, the new 
Government of Hungary lacked any chance to use its armed forces against the 
German military.50 Before the immediate postwar negotiation of its future, the 
government was in urgent need to re-establish the Hungarian Department for 
Peace Preparations, which was already organized in 1943.51 After the begin-
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ning of the German occupation of Hungary, on 19 March 1944, it ceased its 
activities. This was the first consequence of the German military occupation 
and the loss of Hungary’s sovereignty as a state. In early 1945, the reformed 
Hungarian Department for Peace Preparations, led by István Kertész, had to 
restart the documentation, editing, publication and institutional representation 
of the Hungarian interests before the start of the peace negotiations. Kertész 
was a good organizer, and also knew the American plans concerning interna-
tional policy: he had benefited from a Rockefeller scholarship in the 1930s in 
the us, and had published in the Foreign Affairs’ Yearbook of Hungary a text 
on the issue of the us strategic objectives in world politics already in 1941.52 In 
1942 he was working at the Hungarian Embassy in Bucharest, as first secretary 
of the legation. In 1944 he was arrested by the extreme right-wing authorities. 
He survived the siege of Budapest, and then succeeded to join the Provisional 
Government in March 1945.53 He had the support of János Gyöngyösi, the 
minister for Foreign Affairs of the Provisional Government.54 The first result of 
his work was a document presented on 28 June 1945 to the Hungarian coali-
tion of governing parties on the organization of the Department for Preparing 
the Peace.55 On 24 July the Department had put forward the first document 
on the conceptual background for the peace negotiations. This stated that the 
Soviet Union was directly interested in the possible impact of any revision of 
the Hungarian-Romanian border, because it could endanger the position of Dr. 
Petru Groza’s Government, and that it was also to be considered as a possible 
partner in directly negotiating a solution, for the sake of the Hungarian commu-
nity in Transylvania.56 Starting from there, the Department soon put forward 
the alternative plans for:
• a partial revision of the western border of Romania, and the return to Hungary 
of Satu Mare, Carei, Oradea, Salonta and Arad, with the neighboring network 
of villages;
• the regional autonomy of the Szeklerland;
• a plan for an independent Transylvania (as the Litvinov Commission’s docu-
mentation had also suggested a similar solution in 1944) ;57

• an international treaty protecting the rights of national minorities (similar to the 
one signed on 9 December 1919 by Romania, as an instrument for the interwar 
League of Nations, to be instituted now under the aegis of the United Nations);
• a federalization of the region, and the importance of economic coherence, possi-
bly helped by a customs union of the states of the Danube region, as emphasized 
in the document prepared for the Hungarian Government on 14 August 1945, 
to be used as a primary position before the Great Powers represented in the Al-
lied Control Commission regarding its peace-making interests.58 
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That idea was once again presented to the Great Powers in a document sent 
on 12 November 1945, which emphasized the geographic unity of the Carpath-
ian basin, with a certain impact on the transport routes represented by the rivers, 
especially the Danube down to the Black Sea.59

The Hungarian Government also decided to contact the Romanian Govern-
ment for negotiating a bilateral agreement even before the opening of the Paris 
Peace Conference. On 1 November 1945, Dr. Petru Groza met the Hungarian 
delegation led by Sándor Nékám.60 The Romanian Prime Minister declared that 
the question of border revision had to be closed once and for all, reminding of 
a possible revitalization of the Little Entente, and that Stalin was also commit-
ted to rejecting any revision of Romania’s western borders. This was something 
Stalin had made clear to Groza during a consultation in Moscow shortly before 
the Hungarian delegation arrived in Bucharest. He offered to discuss the “spiri-
tualization” of the borders, a possible customs union, “for the Transylvanian 
question to be solved through the friendship of Romanians and Hungarians, 
not by the Great Powers.”61 This position was reemphasized in the Romanian 
Government’s official position, dated 15 January 1946, and later sent to Zoltán 
Tildy.62

The strategy previously put forward by the Western Great Powers had 
changed in the meantime, with dramatic consequences for the states of Central 
and Southeast Europe: Harry Truman, the President of the United States of 
America, declared that the priority was to close the chapter of the peace treaties 
to be signed with the European allies of the defeated Germany (Finland, Roma-
nia, Bulgaria, Hungary, and Italy). He expected this to cause the withdrawal of 
Soviet armed forces, in conformity with the principles stated by the Declaration 
on Liberated Europe, signed at the Yalta Conference. This change in the strate-
gic view on the possible turn of events led to the agreement made between the 
representatives of the Great Powers at the Moscow Conference of the Council of 
Foreign Ministers (15–27 December 1945),63 that stated the immediate recogni-
tion by the Western Great Powers of the Polish, Romanian and Bulgarian Gov-
ernments, right after including a representative of the political opposition in the 
communist-led arrangement enforced earlier by the Soviet Union. The Western 
Great Powers’ representative leaders also put some conditions for recognizing 
the communist-led governments: they were to organize democratic elections—
which would produce representative legislative bodies; these, in turn, would 
legitimate new executive bodies, which would then sign peace treaties as soon as 
possible. That had to be followed, in their own thinking, by the withdrawal of 
the Soviet Army from the entire region. From that point on, the leaders of the 
communists’ political opposition in the region were regularly reminded by the 
representatives of the us Government that the quicker the peace treaties were 
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signed, the sooner the Soviet military presence would cease—an illusion with 
dire consequences, as they later learned. The decision made in Moscow was ap-
plied through the Harimann–Clark–Kerr–Vyshinsky mission to the states of the 
region, which were already separated from the Free World by the Iron Curtain 
drawn by the Soviets. On 4 February 1946 the Western Great Powers officially 
recognized those communist-led governments. In Romania, this was followed 
by the elections of 19 November 1946: the results were falsified, as they were 
used to legitimize the ruling communist-led Government. The will of the voters 
was to be ignored—it was not their vote that decided the results, but the count-
ing authority as controlled by the communists in power, as A. I. Vyshinsky 
stated.64 Nevertheless, the Western Great Powers recognized the Government 
chosen in such a manner. They stuck to their illusions: they urged the signing 
of the peace treaties, which they expected to be followed by the withdrawal of 
the Soviet military. It did not happen, and even the us President had to admit 
this after 10 February 1947. It was a revealing moment that led directly to the 
announcement of the “Truman doctrine” on 12 March 1947. The new strategic 
doctrine introduced the concept of “containment” of the Soviet bloc, which for 
the states already in the bloc meant that the geopolitical division of Europe had 
been accepted. The Western Powers saw it as the limit of Soviet expansion, and 
it was part of a defensive strategy. 

That logic of the events that happened between December 1945 and Febru-
ary 1947 led to the gradual disappearance of any reason for the communist-led 
Government in Romania to fear that Western Powers would not recognize its 
legitimacy. As the official recognition of the Romanian Government took place 
in February 1946—months before the opening of the Paris Peace Conference 
(29 July 1946)—there was no hope that the Western Powers would keep the 
question of Transylvania on the agenda. A possible revision of the Hungarian-
Romanian interstate border could only complicate the negotiation of the peace 
treaties, and the leaders of the us were eagerly interested in closing them. On 
the other hand, the Hungarian Government understood that the Soviet Union 
was committed to defending the legitimacy of the communist-led Government 
in Romania, and also to avoiding any border revision. Stalin had no reason to 
prefer the Hungarian Government to the Romanian one, as a possible gain of 
territory by Hungary would offer a victory to the political enemy of the com-
munists: that was confirmed by the results of the elections held on 4 November 
1945 in Hungary, which saw the defeat of the Communist Party.65 General 
Voroshilov, the Soviet leader of the Allied Control Commission, still enforced a 
Government coalition in which the communists held strategic positions, but the 
fight for power in Hungary lasted until 1948. For the leaders of the governing 
Hungarian Smallholders’ Party the direct consequence was to turn all remaining 
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hopes to the Western Powers.66 But at the Conference of the Deputy Ministers 
of Foreign Affairs held in London (18 January–20 April 1946), the us represen-
tative James Dunn, while previously committed to leave open the question of a 
possible revision of the Hungarian-Romanian border, finally concluded that the 
entire setting was too ambiguous, and it was not worth taking it into consid-
eration, as it halted the preparation of the Peace Conference.67 That was a first 
sign for the Hungarian leaders that the Western Powers were no longer willing 
to have further debates on the issue of borders, as the strategic value of contest-
ing the legitimacy of the communist-led Romanian Government had changed. 
James Byrnes had softened its prior position on 10 April 1946, intimating to 
the Soviet representative that the version for the peace treaties of Hungary and 
Romania put forward by Molotov could be accepted, while still leaving open the 
possibility of direct negotiations between the two states’ representatives regard-
ing a partial revision of the border, if it could lead “to a sensible reduction in the 
numbers of individuals put under foreign rule.”68 Washington and London were 
indicating that the key to the entire affair was once again located in Moscow.  
Ferenc Nagy, the Hungarian Prime Minister, presented his position regarding 
the peace directly to Stalin, on 11 April 1946. He was redirected to negotiate 
directly with the Romanians.69 Then, for one last time, the Hungarian Gov-
ernment’s representatives turned to Bucharest, trying to negotiate directly with  
Dr. Petru Groza’s Government of Romania, just before the opening of the  
Paris Peace Conference.70 The direct mission to Bucharest, led by Pál Sebestyén, 
started on 23 April 1946. The Hungarian special delegate presented the offer to  
Dr. Petru Groza and Gheorghe Tãtãrescu, the Romanian Minister of For-
eign Affairs71: Sebestyén supported the plan—the one presented in advance to  
Stalin—of a partial revision of the border with Romania (the territory claimed 
by Hungary was reduced to a strip neighboring the former interstate border, 
of no more than 20,000 square kilometers, including the cities of Satu Mare, 
Carei, and Oradea), declaring that without accepting that demand, the ques-
tion of the Hungarian community in Transylvania could not be fairly solved. 
The Romanian Prime Minister refused to even discuss the matter, using two 
reasons. The formal one was that the two states would not act properly if they 
decided before the Great Powers to present their solution; the real one was that 
he could not accept any act that would alter the integrity of Transylvania. The 
idea of an exchange of population was rejected by the Hungarian side, because 
it had already produced a humanitarian catastrophe in the earlier case with the 
Czechoslovak Government. The Hungarian diplomacy had already made con-
siderable efforts to halt the exchange with the Czechoslovaks on the international  
panel,72 and also tried to negotiate directly with the Czechoslovak leaders,73 which 
led to the signing of a treaty on 27 February 1946.74 The removal of Hungarians 
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from Czechoslovak territory had already taken place. The us delegate, who met 
with the Hungarian one in 1946, rejected any further act of massive population 
relocation, because similar acts involving the German communities of Central 
and Eastern Europe after the Potsdam Conference had produced many negative 
effects, as the assessments made in Washington D.C. indicated.75 Also, in Lon-
don, Ernest Bevin later reassured the visiting Hungarian Prime Minister that 
the relocation of ethnic Hungarians from the neighboring countries was not a 
solution favored by his Government.76 The mission led by Pál Sebestyén ended 
without any result.

On the idea of a treaty safeguarding the rights of the national minorities, to 
be introduced as an annex, or as an integral part in the form of a general clause of 
the peace treaties to be signed, the position of the representatives of the us and 
of Great Britain differed: the former suggested that it was a case to be addressed 
by the United Nations, and the latter envisaged a general codex iuris functioning 
as part of the international law, considered more adequate than its integration in 
the peace treaties to be signed then.77 In the end, none of the possible solutions 
were to be enacted by the Great Powers in the immediate postwar era.

The Conference of the Council of Foreign Ministers held in Paris (25 
April–16 May 1946 and 16 June–12 July 1946)78 had to decide on 
the final drafts of the Peace Treaties with Finland, Romania, Bulgaria,  

Hungary, and Italy, right before the opening of the Paris Peace Conference (29 
July–15 October 1946). As Harold Nicolson once wrote: “Every conference 
begins like a turtle, and reaches the finish line as a racing dog. Never in my 
life had I experienced such a difference between the beginning and the end of 
a conference. The first six weeks were painfully slow in advancing; in the last 
four weeks a breath cutting race happened to put an end to it.”79 Given the deci-
sion of the us government to further rush the conclusion of the peace (its new 
strategy was based on the conviction that the Soviet military presence would 
have to end right after the signing of the peace treaties), one might realize how 
little time was available for the deep analysis of every issue. The memoirs of the 
head of the Hungarian Department for Preparing the Peace speak of the infernal 
rhythm in advancing to the main event. Sometimes, a documented presentation 
of the official delegate to be presented at the Peace Conference was requested 
only a fraction of a day in advance.80 Before the opening of the conference, the 
Hungarian Department for Preparing the Peace had edited a synthesis, reflect-
ing the general situation of the ethnic Hungarians in Romania, with an annexed 
chronological list of the events covering the period between August 1944 and 
May 1946.81 The leading figure of the editorial board of all memoirs regarding 
territorial claims was István Révay, the director of the Teleki Institute. The first 
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drafts of all texts were made in the Hungarian language, translated into English, 
French, and Russian by high representatives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. 
Then, the text was given a final form by István Kertész, who had to person-
ally control all the documentation presented to the Peace Conference. The civil 
servants involved in the work of the Secretariat and the translation team of the 
delegation worked shifts of 24, often 48 hours, because of the last-minute an-
nouncements made to the delegations by the Conference.82

The first meeting of the Council of Foreign Ministers at the Palais du Lux-
embourg began on 25 April 1946.83 It had adopted “without amendments” the 
proposal of Molotov on the Draft Rules of Procedure, previously submitted 
by the French Delegation to the Deputies. Byrnes had announced a us memo-
randum on Austria, and Bidault a memorandum of the French Delegation on 
Germany. After a week, Bidault confessed to Byrnes84 that he was discouraged 
by the complete lack of progress shown in the Council meetings, and showed 
extreme anxiety over the Russian (Soviet) intensions. As the Soviet delegation 
was of 300 people, he suggested smaller meetings, consisting of just the four 
ministers and their interpreters. Byrnes agreed and also proposed that Bidault 
should directly ask Molotov about it. In case of a refusal, “he is going to suggest 
that the meetings be thrown open to the public so that the world opinion can see 
just what the situation is and just where stumbling blocks lie.”85 He mentioned 
that the popularity of the Soviet Union, which a year before had been very high 
in the us, had been completely dissipated by the Soviet Government’s policies. 
Then he asked Bidault directly if he thought whether Soviet policy “was based 
on a desire for security or expansion.” Bidault responded: “security through ex-
pansion, probably,” but in the “present state of the French forces” he could not 
show very strong opposition to the Soviets.86 A week later, the Council of For-
eign Ministers had on the table the Peace Treaty with Romania. The points to be 
discussed were, in succession: Transylvania, frontiers other than the Romanian-
Hungarian frontier, the international control of the Danube, the dissolution of 
fascist organizations, war criminals.87 After that came the debate concerning the 
Peace Treaty with Bulgaria. The third chapter to be discussed was the Peace 
Treaty with Hungary, as follows: the cancellation of the Vienna Award, frontier 
problems other than the problem of the frontier between Hungary and Roma-
nia, reparations.88 The Peace Treaty with Finland ended the session.

Concerning the Romanian-Hungarian frontier, two points remained in dis-
pute. The Soviet draft article contained a sentence to the effect that the whole of 
Transylvania should be included into Romania, and the other delegations had 
proposed the deletion of that sentence—as the us delegation had suggested be-
fore an addition in brackets as follows: “Nevertheless, the Allied and Associated 
Powers would be prepared to recognize any rectification of the Rumanian-Hun-
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garian frontier that may subsequently be mutually agreed between the parties 
directly concerned and which would substantially reduce the number of persons 
living under alien rule.”89 Very soon after that Byrnes proposed that if the So-
viet delegation withdrew the words in the first bracket, then the us delegation  
would withdraw the words in the second bracket.90 As Molotov and then also 
Ernest Bevin representing Great Britain agreed, they advanced to the next issue: 
the other frontiers of Romania. Earlier, at the London Conference, Molotov 
had proposed that reference should only be made in the treaty to the frontier 
which was in dispute, that with Hungary. He thought it was not necessary to 
refer in the same terms to other frontiers of Romania “since they were not in 
dispute,”91 but the other delegations had insisted that other boundaries should 
also be mentioned in the treaty. In Paris, on 7 May, the other delegations were 
no longer insisting on the matter, passing it to the deputies for examination. 
Then they swiftly passed on to the next issue: the Danube River, which was the 
object of a debate between the Soviet and the British delegations, and no deci-
sion was reached in the end.92 After that all delegations agreed on the dissolution 
of fascist organizations. On the issue concerning war criminals, the delegates’ 
position was to apply what had been agreed during the Italian peace treaty talks. 
In the end, Byrnes raised an additional question: that of “equality of economic 
opportunity” in Romania for all interested Great Powers—that meant “equal 
access to trade, raw materials, and industry, access to ports, waterways, and 
aviation facilities.”93 That point stirred a lot of conflicting arguments between 
the Soviet and us delegations. In the end, Ernest Bevin stated on behalf of the 
delegation of Great Britain that “it was essential from the point of view of the 
United Kingdom that it know where it stood with these countries economically. 
Mr. Bevin was afraid that he did not know now.”94 One can therefore observe 
that the economic dispute had remained the only really debated issue, as for the 
borders of Romania it was “case settled and closed.”

After a break, the Conference of the Council of Foreign Ministers contin-
ued its twelfth meeting on 7 May 1946, including the debate on the Peace 
Treaty with Hungary.95 It started with the draft of the Peace Treaty with Bul-
garia—including a discussion on the withdrawal of Allied troops: there was an 
open reference to the fact that “the line of communication to the Soviet zone in 
Austria did run through Romania.” Molotov objected, stating that “the line of 
communication ran not only across Rumania but also along the Danube, which 
went through Bulgaria as well as Rumania,” a very important sign which could 
have raised the attention of Western Allies regarding the illusion of a Soviet 
military withdrawal.96 About the frontiers of Hungary, the us delegation had a 
new proposal, which covered not only the annulment of the Vienna Award, but 
all frontiers:
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• the frontiers of Hungary with Austria and with Yugoslavia shall be those 
which existed on 1 January 1938; 
• the decisions of the Vienna Award of 30 August 1940, are declared null and 
void. The frontier between Hungary and Romania existing on 1 January 1938 
is hereby restored; 
• the frontier between Hungary and the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, 
from the point common to the frontier of those two states and of Romania to 
the point common to the frontiers of those two states and of Czechoslovakia, 
is fixed along the former frontier between Hungary and Czechoslovakia as it 
existed on 1 January 1938; 
• the decisions of the Vienna Arbitration Award of 2 November 1938 are de-
clared null and void. The frontier between Hungary and Czechoslovakia, from 
the point common to the frontiers of those two states and Austria to the point 
common to the frontiers of those two states and the Union of Soviet Socialist 
Republics, is hereby restored as it existed on 1 January 1938. 

The proposal was followed by a note: “This text should be considered as 
tentative until the Governments of Czechoslovakia and Hungary have had an 
opportunity to present orally to the Council of Foreign Ministers or to the Peace 
Conference their respective views on this subject.”97 As one can see, it did not 
bring any change to the question of Transylvania, in relation to the decisions 
concerning the Peace Treaty with Romania. Then, once again, the major inter-
est was in economic issues, starting from the subject of Hungarian reparations.98

As the decision of the Great Powers was made on 7 May 1946, the us rep-
resentative to Hungary, Schoenfeld, sent a secret and urgent telegram to the us 
Secretary of State, James Byrnes, on the same day (the latter being present as 
us Delegate at the Conference of the Council of Foreign Ministers in Paris). In 
that telegram, Schoenfeld informed Byrnes about the meeting he had had with 
Ferenc Nagy, the Hungarian Prime Minister, and János Gyöngyösi, the Hun-
garian Minister of Foreign Affairs. They both pointed out that in a report sent 
to them by Ádám Bede (the special envoy of the Hungarian Government to 
London) the British Foreign Office was quoted as saying: “it would be embar-
rassing for British Government to raise the Hungarian proposal for solution of 
territorial controversy with Romania along lines set forth in Hungarian memo 
April 25 transmitted to Department, Paris, London, Moscow and Bucharest.”99 
A copy of that memo was in Paris, in the possession of Pál Auer, the Hungarian 
Prime Minister addressing a direct call to the us Delegate to use that memo, as 
a “relatively disinterested Great Power,” before the Council of Foreign Minis-
ters would reach a decision. Schoenfeld had previously warned the Secretary of 
State: “While current issues remain unsettled, political tension will of course 
persist with attendant possibilities of political coups.”100 But the us Delegate’s 



44 • Transylvanian Review • Vol. XXVI, No. 2 (Summer 2017)

intervention in Paris was not to happen, as the Hungarian Government repre-
sentatives had learned from the decisions announced by the Council of Foreign 
Ministers. Also, the Hungarian Minister of Finance was informed that there was 
no prospect of an Ex-Im Bank loan to Hungary at that time, and was asked not 
to travel to Washington. Nevertheless, he did go, as the voyage had been previ-
ously arranged.101 The Hungarian Minister of Finance expressed his surprise 
and disappointment, and also his hope that the decision could be reconsidered, 
in a statement that also said: “coming on top of the decision yesterday on the 
Transylvanian border, the rejection of a request for a loan negotiation would be 
widely interpreted as complete lack of interest on the part of the United States 
in the fate of Hungary.”102 On the other hand, János Gyöngyösi, the Hungarian 
Minister of Foreign Affairs, informed Schoenfeld in Budapest that after learning 
about the decision of the Council of Foreign Ministers in Paris he had turned 
to the Soviet Union’s representative with the desire to visit Moscow and discuss 
that question with Molotov. He was officially informed that such a visit would 
serve no useful purpose, since the decision of the cfm on Transylvania had been 
taken at the insistence of the us Secretary of State, James Byrnes.103 On 4 June 
1946 came the answer of James Byrnes, us Secretary of State, to Schoenfeld in 
Budapest: 

Since FonMin [Hungarian Minister of Foreign Affairs] claims to have been of-
ficially informed by Soviets in matter we think that for record you might at suitable 
opportunity tell FonMin that decision of cfm on Transylvania was taken upon 
Soviet initiative. From time negotiation armistice Soviets have insisted all Transyl-
vania be returned Rumania. us Govt endeavored obtain arrangement permitting 
minor rectifications on ethnic grounds and subsequently favored adoption treaty 
language at least envisaging direct negotiations that connection between Hungary 
and Rumania. However, Soviet view that whole territory be returned Rumania 
without qualification and without reference subsequent direct negotiations finally 
prevailed.104 

Given the personal and direct impressions of Ferenc Nagy, the Hungarian Prime 
Minister, as a result of an official visit paid to Washington D.C. (11–19 June 
1946), and London (19–24 June 1946), followed by meetings in Paris, on the 
way back, with Georges Bidault, Ernest Bevin, and Vyacheslav Molotov, the 
French, the British and the Soviet Ministers of Foreign Affairs,105 there remained 
no room for illusions right before the opening of the Paris Peace Conference.

Under these auspices, István Kertész, the leading figure of the Hungarian 
Department for Peace Preparations, still had to find reasons to further the ef-
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forts of all his dedicated partners when representing Hungary at the Paris Peace 
Conference. In a letter written on 17 June 1946 to one of his most dedicated 
men, Béla Demeter, who had organized the documentation in Transylvania, 
published recently in an excellent study on the subject, Kertész stated: “Now 
the question had been raised, what can be further done in the present situation. 
In my view, everything humanly possible still must be done, and we should not 
abandon hope—not until the last minute. In the underdeveloped state of the 
world—as also in Romania—a lot of things can still happen. In history there 
are no definite matters, and a nation is to perish only if it signs its own death 
sentence. This is the road on which, in my view, we are not allowed to step.”106
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Abstract
Great Power Decision-Making after World War II and the Hungarian Department 
for Preparing the Peace Regarding the Question of Transylvania

At the end of the Second World War, Hungary and Romania found themselves embroiled in yet 
another dispute regarding their common border. The present paper examines the complex inter-
national context surrounding the negotiations at the Paris Peace Conference, the claims and the 
strategies of the countries involved, with a special focus on the efforts undertaken by the Hungar-
ian authorities, as well as the position of the Great Powers in regard to these claims and strategies.
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